
 

1 
 

      

 

 

 

 

 

MINUTES 

Meeting of the 

Board of Parole Commissioners 

April 27, 2022 

 

MINUTES APPROVED ON MAY 31, 2022 
 
NOTE: The following minutes have not been approved and are subject to revision at the next meeting 

of the Board. 

 

The Board of Parole Commissioners held a public meeting on April 27, 2022, beginning at 1:00 PM at the 

following locations: 

 

Conference room at the central office of the Board of Parole Commissioners, located at 1677 Old Hot 

Springs Road, Ste. A, Carson City, NV, and video conference at the Parole Board Office, 4000 S. Eastern 

Avenue, Ste. 130, Las Vegas, NV. 

 

I. Open Meeting, call to order, roll call 1:00 PM. 

 

The meeting was called to order by Chairman DeRicco. Present in Carson City were Commissioner Jackson, 

Commissioner Baker, and Chairman DeRicco. Present in the Las Vegas office were Commissioner 

Christiansen and Commissioner Bailey. Commissioner Weisenthal and Commissioner Verchio were absent, 

excused.  

 

Support staff in attendance: 

Katie Fraker, Executive Secretary 

Kelly Mellinger, Hearings Examiner II 

Darla Foley, Hearing Examiner I 

Forrest Harter, Hearing Examiner I 

Mary Flores, Administrative Assistant III 

 

Members of the public present in Carson City included: 

Katie Brady, Deputy Attorney General 

Paul Corrado 

 

Members of the public present in Las Vegas included: 

None 

 

CENTRAL OFFICE 
 

1677 Old Hot Springs Rd., Ste. A 

Carson City, Nevada  89706 

http://parole.nv.gov 
(775) 687-5049 

Fax (775) 687-6736 
 

CHRISTOPHER P. DERICCO, Chairman 

SUSAN JACKSON, Member  

MARY K. BAKER, Member  
SCOTT WEISENTHAL, Member 

 

KATIE FRAKER, Executive Secretary 

 

LAS VEGAS OFFICE 
 

4000 S. Eastern Ave., Ste.130 

Las Vegas, Nevada  89119 

http://parole.nv.gov 
   (702) 486-4370     

Fax (702) 486-4376 

                                                                    
CHRISTOPHER P. DERICCO, Chairman 

ERIC CHRISTIANSEN, Member  

DONNA VERCHIO, Member 
LAMICIA BAILEY, Member 

 

STATE OF NEVADA 
STEVE SISOLAK 

Governor 

 

NEVADA BOARD OF PAROLE COMMISSIONERS 

http://parole.nv.gov/


 

2 
 

II. Public Comment.  No action may be taken upon a matter raised under this item of the agenda until 

the matter itself has been specifically included on an agenda as an item upon which action may be 

taken pursuant to subparagraph (2) of NRS 241.020. 

 

Public comment – Carson City, NV 

Paul Corrado – see submitted public comment documents 

 

Public comment – Las Vegas, NV  

No public comment. 

 

III. For possible action: Review/Approval of minutes from the March 31, 2022, Board meeting. 

 

Motion: Approve the minutes from the March 31, 2022, Board meeting. 

Made: Commissioner Jackson 

Seconded By: Commissioner Christiansen 

Votes in Favor: DeRicco, Jackson, Baker, Christiansen, Bailey 

Votes Opposed: None 

Results: Motion passed 

 
 

IV. For discussion and possible action: The Board will discuss and may take action to update and 

or modify the “Operation of the Board” document that outlines the procedural functioning of the 

Board.  This document may be updated and modified in the future as needed.   

 

Chairman DeRicco stated this agenda item is being removed from the agenda as this project was 

completed at the meeting last month. He stated this agenda item was placed on the agenda as a 

placeholder should something have been missed. He stated after review, nothing had been missed, and 

no new sections need to be reviewed. 
 

V. For discussion and possible action: The Board will discuss and may take action to update and 

or modify the Aggravating and Mitigating Factors Definitions.   

 

Chairman DeRicco stated that at the last meeting the Board adopted regulation R115-21P that has now 

been sent to the Legislative Counsel Bureau to finalize. He stated that the proposed regulation revised 

and reorganized the language of the aggravating and mitigating factors that the Board may consider; and 

providing other matters properly relating thereto. He stated that now is the time that has been set aside to 

review and discuss the aggravating and mitigating definitions to determine if they need to be revised, or 

if they are good as they are worded now. He stated this will give greater clarity to not only the Board, 

but also the inmates, the public, or anyone else that wants to know why a certain aggravating or 

mitigating factor is applied. He stated this project was initiated by the Hearings Examiners and referred 

to the suggested changes as noted in the handout “Nevada Parole Guidelines Aggravating and Mitigating 

Factors Definitions Rev – 2022.” He stated that he will be reading through the document in its entirety, 

section by section, and entertaining discussion on this document. He encouraged the members of the 

Board and Hearings Examiners to include their input toward anything they felt might be missing or that 

would provide greater clarity, and to ask questions. He then began to read through the document. 

 

Chairman DeRicco stated that he would be updating the word ‘prisoner’ to ‘inmate’ throughout the 

document. 



 

3 
 

 

Under the section ‘Disruptive institutional behavior,’ Commissioner Christiansen questioned whether 

‘Propelling’ was limited to bodily fluid, or if it could include all forms of propelling. Chairman DeRicco 

asked Commissioner Bailey, due to her corrections experience, if the Nevada Department of Corrections 

(NDOC) had different disciplinary distinctions for different types of propelling. Commissioner Bailey 

responded that it could be propelling any type of fluid. Commissioner Bailey stated that the section read, 

“examples include, but are not limited to,” so the list is not all inclusive. Commissioner Baker suggested 

changing ‘Propelling of Bodily Fluid’ to ‘Propelling.’ Commissioner Christiansen agreed with 

Commissioner Baker. The Board agreed. 

 

Under the section ‘Nature of criminal record is increasingly more serious,’ Commissioner Baker gave 

the following example for clarification; if an inmate had four prior convictions for domestic battery and 

then the felony for domestic battery, which is mandatory, that would not be increasingly more serious 

because it required those priors to get the felony. Chairman DeRicco stated that was correct. Hearings 

Examiner Darla Foley wanted to clarify that the Board was not using a punishment as increasingly more 

serious. She then gave the example of a person committing a few violent offenses and then they 

committed a violent offense that ended up being a felony, that may be because of his history he was 

given the felony even though the offenses were the same. She wanted to clarify that the Board was not 

treating it as increasingly more serious even though the punishment was more serious. Chairman 

DeRicco stated that if a person had a misdemeanor domestic battery, misdemeanor battery, and then a 

new felony violent crime, that would be increasingly more serious. Ms. Foley stated that she was under 

the assumption that because there was a harsher punishment that it did not mean it was a more serious 

crime. Chairman DeRicco responded that statutorily that is why we have crimes listed as misdemeanor, 

gross misdemeanor, and felony. Chairman DeRicco stated that if statutorily the law makes the 3rd time a 

felony, then no, that crime would not be increasingly more serious, such as in the case of DUI or 

Domestic Violence/Battery. He stated they could have other violent crimes in their criminal history that 

may make it increasingly more serious and that is a call the hearings examiners or the Board will have to 

make. Ms. Foley stated that in her original example, it must have been more serious in order for the 

crime to be a felony. Chairman DeRicco stated that was correct. 

 

In the same section, Hearings Examiner Kelly Mellinger stated that in the past, this aggravating factor 

has been used if a person has zero criminal history and now has a violent felony, such as a robbery. 

Chairman DeRicco stated that in his opinion this factor does not apply if the person has no criminal 

record prior to their instant offense. Commissioner Christiansen asked what if a person had a ticket for 

jaywalking and now has committed a robbery. He stated in that case it is subjective because it is 

increasingly more serious. He asked at what degree should the Board apply this factor. Commissioner 

Baker stated that the section read, ‘criminal conduct of the person has escalated over time to include 

violence towards victims or others, or the scale of criminal activity has increased over time.’ She stated 

she would not see jaywalking to robbery has criminal activity increasing over time. Chairman DeRicco 

agreed and stated that he would not apply that factor either in the example that Commissioner 

Christiansen gave. He stated he would not apply it in cases of a traffic offense or shoplifting, but rather 

in cases that showed violence towards victims increasing or the scale of criminal activity increasing over 

time. Commissioner Christiansen stated that he looks for a pattern or a crescendo or criminal activity. 

Chairman DeRicco stated if there is no criminal history then there is no pattern or escalation, so this 

factor should not be used. 

 

In the next section, Chairman DeRicco and Commissioner Baker suggested changing the title to ‘Crime 

was targeted against a child, or person of greater vulnerability, because of age or disability.’ 



 

4 
 

 

For the section ‘Impact on the community and each victim of the crime,’ Chairman DeRicco provided 

clarification by stating that this factor would not be included when only considering enhancements due 

to this factor being considered on the primary conviction. 

 

Chairman DeRicco read the next section, ‘The extreme or abnormal aspects of the crime for which 

parole is being considered’ in its entirety. He suggested adding the word ‘or’ on the last sentence, to 

make it read, “…serial sexual assault or numerous victims of a sex offender; or the torture of a person or 

animal.” The Board agreed. 

 

In the next section, ‘Removal from a correctional program for reentry or program of work release on 

current period of incarceration,’ Chairman DeRicco changed ‘Northern Nevada Transition Housing’ to 

‘Northern Nevada Transitional Housing.’ 

 

Under the section ‘Commission of a crime while incarcerated, on bail, on escape status, eluding, or 

while under parole or probation supervision,’ Hearings Examiner Kelly Mellinger asked if gross 

misdemeanors needed to be included in the first sentence. Chairman DeRicco agreed that it should be 

included. Commissioner Baker suggested the wording of, “This factor may be indicated if the inmate 

has ever been convicted of a crime while incarcerated, on bail, on escape status, or while under gross 

misdemeanor or felony probation, or felony parole.” The Board agreed. 

 

In the next section, ‘No prior or minimal history of criminal convictions or delinquency adjudications,’ 

Commissioner Baker stated the suggested changes clarify the mitigating factor. She also suggested 

removing the comma after gross misdemeanor in the first sentence. The Board agreed to the 

grammatical change. 

 

In the section ‘Participation in programs specific to addressing the behavior that led to their 

incarceration,’ Chairman DeRicco fixed a typographical error changing ‘let’ to ‘led.’ Chairman DeRicco 

stated that this mitigating factor can be added even if the individual has not completed a program that 

has given them a reduction of points on their risk assessment. Hearings Examiner Darla Foley asked if 

this mitigating factor can be included if the inmate has completed programs not provided by the NDOC, 

such as Hope for Prisoners or other correspondence programs that they have sent in their certificates for. 

Chairman DeRicco stated yes. He stated that he believes if they are working a program and trying to 

better themselves, even if it is not a certified program that will take a point off the risk assessment, he 

would include that as a mitigating factor. Commissioner Bailey and Commissioner Christiansen agreed 

that any betterment should be counted as a mitigating factor. The Board agreed. 

 

In the next section, ‘Positive adjustment to a correctional program for reentry or program of work 

release on current period of incarceration,’ Chairman DeRicco changed ‘Northern Nevada Transition 

Housing’ to ‘Northern Nevada Transitional Housing.’ 

 

During the section ‘Stable release plans,’ Chairman DeRicco provided that the hearings examiners may 

not always have this information when they are working up a file. He stated if this information comes in 

later or is provided at the hearing and the panel is satisfied with that information, they should apply this 

mitigating factor. Commissioner Jackson stated she is seeing this information included more with the 

Parole Board Reports from the NDOC. Chairman DeRicco stated he believes this is due to the passage 

of AB236 that the release plan is being worked on earlier by the Division of Parole and Probation. 

Commissioner Christiansen stated that many times stable release plans and family support bleed 



 

5 
 

together and he will give the inmate the benefit of the doubt and apply both mitigating factors. Chairman 

DeRicco stated stable release plans is when the inmate has a verified job and residence. There was no 

further discussion on this section. 

 

Chairman DeRicco reiterated during the section ‘community or family support,’ that the Board may not 

always have this information before the hearing, but the panel may include this mitigating factor if 

support shows up at the hearing. Chairman DeRicco also asked the Board if the term ‘church’ was 

acceptable in this section, with the understanding this includes all religious organizations. The Board 

agreed. 

 

Under the section ‘Case history demonstrates remorse,’ Chairman DeRicco changed the word ‘himself’ 

to ‘themself’ in the second sentence and added ‘of’ in the third sentence to read, “…and not as a result 

of any negotiation or other impending action.” 

 

After going through all the sections, Chairman DeRicco proposed instead of adopting the document at 

this meeting, cleaning the document up with the suggested changes and revisions, and review and 

approve at the next meeting. The Board agreed. 

 

VI. For possible action: The Board may act to adjourn the meeting. 

 

Motion: To adjourn the April 27, 2022, meeting of the Nevada Board of 

Parole Commissioners. 

Made: Commissioner Baker 

Seconded By: Commissioner Bailey 

Votes in Favor: DeRicco, Jackson, Baker, Christiansen, Bailey 

Votes Opposed: None 

Results: Motion passed 

 

Chairman DeRicco called the meeting back to order after it was brought to his attention that there was no 

second public comment put on the agenda. He stated this was an oversight on his part and it unintentionally 

left off the agenda. There was no public comment in Las Vegas, NV. There was no public comment in 

Carson City, NV. The meeting was adjourned. 






















	04-27-2022 APPROVED minutes.pdf
	04-27-2022 Draft minutes.pdf
	04-27-2022 Submitted Public Comment.pdf


